1998

Vickie M. Nielsen v. The Estate of Mary Jane Hefferon : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction over this interlocutory appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (1953, as amended).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. The trial court erred as a matter of law in dismissing Mrs. Nielsen's complaint on summary judgment where there were material issues of fact in dispute regarding (1) whether the adjuster for the insurer of Ms. Heffron (all collectively referred to herein as "Liberty Mutual") represented to Mrs. Nielsen or her counsel that the "personal injury" language in the release would not be binding on Mrs. Nielsen thereby precluding use of the release due to estoppel or fraud in the inducement; and (2) whether an employee or agent of Liberty Mutual physically altered the release, making it void and fraudulent.

Standard of review: Summary judgment is appropriate only where there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. A challenge to summary judgment involves only review of questions of law in which the appellate court reviews the questions for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court's conclusions. The appellate court addresses (1) whether the trial court erred in applying the governing law and (2) whether the trial court correctly held that there were no disputed issues of material fact. Glencore, Ltd. v. Ince, 343 Utah Adv. Rep. 10, 10 (Utah 1998).

This issue was preserved for review in Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Objection to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to Amend Her Complaint and attachments thereto, R. 43 to 51, and in oral argument before the trial court, R. 123, T. 14-23.

2. The trial court abused its discretion in denying Mrs. Nielsen's motion for leave to

amend her complaint where (1) justice clearly required the granting of the motion, (2) there would be no prejudice to the defendants, and (3) the issues involved in the proposed amendment related directly to the validity of the release.

Standard of review: A ruling on a motion to amend is within the discretion of the trial court. Timm v. Dewsnup, 851 P.2d 1178, 1182 (Utah 1993). Where the trial court exercises its discretion, it may be reversed only for abuse of that discretion. State v. Harmon, 956 P.2d 262, 265 (Utah 1998).

This issue was preserved for review in Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Objection to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to Amend Her Complaint and attachments thereto, R. 43 to 51.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

There are no determinative constitutional or statutory provisions governing the resolution of these issues. Issue No. 2 is governed by Rule 15(a), Utah R. Civ. P. which provides that leave to amend "shall be freely given when justice so requires."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a personal injury action by Vickie M. Nielsen which arose as a result of an automobile accident on September 28, 1990. Negotiations with Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, the Defendant's insurer, began in February of 1991. On May 1, 1991, Liberty Mutual paid Mrs. Nielsen's husband for loss of his pickup truck in exchange for title to the vehicle. On or about June 6, 1991, David Gehris, adjuster for Liberty Mutual, negotiated a settlement for Mrs. Nielsen's separate property damage claim. He sent a release to be executed by Mrs. Nielsen and her counsel. Mr. Gehris advised Mrs. Nielsen's attorney that he knew the settlement was only with respect to Mrs. Nielsen's property damage claim and that they could ignore language

in the release regarding personal injury claims. Not wishing to rely solely on Mr. Gehris' oral representation, Mrs. Nielsen's counsel crossed out on the release the words "Personal Injuries existing or which may exist which are known or unknown to me at the present time" and "both to person." Both then executed the release.

On December 15, 1992, Mrs. Nielsen's counsel contacted Mr. Gehris concerning Mrs. Nielsen's back injury resulting from the accident and discussed her pending surgery. On August 24, 1993, Mrs. Nielsen's counsel again contracted Mr. Gehris regarding the expenses for the surgery. On September 21, 1993, Mrs. Nielsen's attorney received a letter from Mr. Gehris requesting that he be contacted regarding the personal injury claim. On October 5, 1993 Mrs. Nielsen's counsel sent a medical records package to Mr. Gehris and requested that he respond concerning an independent medical examination. Litigation was timely commenced on September 20, 1994.

Mrs. Nielsen's counsel subsequently corresponded with Liberty Mutual personnel regarding the personal injury claim and both parties engaged in discovery. Not until Liberty Mutual filed its motion to dismiss on or about October 28, 1997, three years after commencement of the action, did Liberty Mutual produce the release and assert that the release precluded Mrs. Nielsen's personal injury claims.

Liberty Mutual submitted with its motion an affidavit of Mr. Gehris. Mrs. Nielsen responded with documentary evidence, her own affidavit and an affidavit of her attorney.¹ She also filed a motion for leave to amend her complaint to allege fraud and alteration of the release.

The trial court ruled that the Best Evidence Rule governed the issue and interpreted the

¹The motion is, therefore, properly treated as a motion for summary judgment under Rule 56, Utah R. Civ. P. See Rule 12(b), Utah R. Civ. P.

release without resort to extrinsic evidence. It ordered Mrs. Nielsen's claims dismissed with prejudice. Without entertaining oral argument on Mrs. Nielsen's motion for leave to amend and without making any findings as to that motion, the trial court denied her motion.

This appeal has been brought to challenge the trial court's dismissal of Mrs. Nielsen's claims and its denial of her motion to amend.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On September 23, 1990, Vickie Nielsen was injured in a traffic accident involving a vehicle operated by Mary Jane Hefferon. R. 2.

2. Subsequent to the accident, Mrs. Nielsen obtained counsel who negotiated a settlement with Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, insurer of the vehicle operated by Mary Jane Hefferon. R. 44.

3. In May of 1991, Liberty Mutual settled the claim of Mrs. Nielsen's husband for loss of his pickup truck. R. 44.

4. Subsequent to the May 1991 settlement, Mrs. Nielsen negotiated and settled her separate claim for property damage. R. 45.

5. Liberty Mutual's claims adjuster, David Gehris, sent Mrs. Nielsen a release form to execute prior to receipt of the property damage amount. The adjuster represented to Mrs. Nielsen's counsel that the settlement was solely for the property damage and that Mrs. Nielsen could "ignore" the language regarding personal injury. R. 45.

6. Mrs. Nielsen did not trust the insurance company or Mr. Gehris. As a result, her counsel crossed out the words "Personal injuries existing or which may exist which are known or unknown to me at the present time" and "both to person." R. 45.

7. Mrs. Nielsen executed the release agreement with the personal injury language struck

out. R. 45.

8. Both Mrs. Nielsen and Mr. Gehris understood that Mrs. Nielsen would be asserting a claim for personal injuries after she underwent the necessary extensive medical treatment. R. 46.

9. From December 1992 through September of 1994, Mrs. Nielsen's counsel contacted and corresponded with Mr. Gehris concerning Mrs. Nielsen's personal injury claims. R. 46 to 47.

10. Mrs. Nielsen commenced this action on September 20, 1994. R. 1.

11. After commencement of the action, Mrs. Nielsen cooperated with Liberty Mutual in the evaluation of her personal injury claims. R. 46 to 47.

12. Both parties engaged in extensive discovery. At no time during discovery did Liberty Mutual produce the release nor assert reliance on the release as an affirmative defense.

13. In August of 1997, Liberty Mutual "found" the release. R. 34.

14. On October 28, 1997, Liberty Mutual filed (1) a motion for leave to amend its answer to assert the release as an affirmative defense, and (2) a motion to dismiss. R. 38.

15. On November 13, 1997, Mrs. Nielsen filed an objection to Liberty Mutual's motions and a motion for leave to amend her complaint to assert her claims of fraud and bad faith of the release and her defenses to the release. R. 40.

16. With her memoranda, Mrs. Nielsen filed her affidavit and an affidavit of her counsel raising material factual issues about the validity and enforceability of the release. R. 52 to 82.

17. The trial court conducted a hearing on the motions on February 26, 1998. R. 123 (see transcript).

18. At the hearing, Mrs. Nielsen's counsel inspected the release and acknowledged the validity of the signatures. R. 113.

19. The trial court then relied on the best evidence rule to hold that the scope of the agreement must be determined from the face of the release. R. 113. Finding no ambiguity in the language of the release, the court refused to consider parol evidence and held that the release precluded Mrs. Nielsen's claims. R. 114.

20. At no time did the trial court evaluate Mrs. Nielsen's claims of fraud, alteration, or fraud in the inducement.

21. Without discussion or analysis, the trial court denied Mrs. Nielsen's motion to amend her complaint. R. 114.

22. The trial court dismissed Mrs. Nielsen's claims with prejudice. R. 114.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Summary judgment is appropriate only where there are no genuine issues of material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Factual issues which are material are those which affect the final determination of legal issues under the appropriate governing law. In the present case, the legal issue is whether the release produced by Liberty Mutual is valid and bars Mrs. Nielsen's personal injury claims.

A release, like any other agreement, is construed according to its terms from the face of the agreement except in cases where facts exist which would invalidate the agreement. A release which limits or waives liability is unenforceable if procured by fraud or entered into on reasonable reliance upon the positive assertions made by another. In addition, a contract which has been altered is invalid. Where the question of alteration has been raised, the issue is a fact question which must be presented to the trier of fact and may not be disposed of by summary judgment. Where a document has been submitted which appears regular on its face, the trial court or finder of fact may not presume the document to be valid in the face of an assertion that

the document was altered or that the agreement was fraudulently induced.

Mrs. Nielsen did not allege fraud in her earlier pleadings because there was no indication that Liberty Mutual was going to assert the release as a defense to her claims. Only when the release was later found and Liberty Mutual asserted it as an affirmative defense, did Mrs. Nielsen have to evaluate the fraud issues. She did so timely through her objection to Liberty Mutual's motion to dismiss and by motion to the court for leave to amend her complaint.

The trial court's dismissal in the face of disputed issues of material fact was erroneous as a matter of law. In addition, its denial of Mrs. Nielsen's motion to amend was an abuse of discretion which resulted in prejudice and substantial injustice to Mrs. Nielsen. This Court should, therefore, reverse and remand to the trial court.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE THERE WERE DISPUTED FACTS AS TO THE VALIDITY OF THE RELEASE.

It is well-established law that a trial court may properly grant summary judgment only in the absence of genuine issues of material fact where the moving party is entitled to judgment on the undisputed facts as a matter of law. *E.g.*, Glencore, Ltd. v. Ince, 343 Utah Adv. Rep. 10, 10 (Utah 1998). This Court has stated in the context of a summary judgment motion that an issue of fact "must be material to the applicable rule of law." Norton v. Blackham, 669 P.2d 857, 859 (Utah 1983). It has not defined "materiality" in the summary judgment context. It has, however, indicated in a criminal matter that the measure of materiality is the effect of a fact on the outcome of a trial. State v. Schreuder, 712 P.2d 264, 275 (Utah 1985) ("Testimony is material . .

. if there is a reasonable probability that its presence would affect the outcome of the trial.”) The U.S. Supreme Court has defined the terms “material” and “genuine” for summary judgment purposes. A “material” fact is one “that might affect the outcome of the suit under governing law,” and a “genuine” issue is one for which “the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 2510, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986). Many states have similarly defined a fact as being material for summary judgment purposes if it can affect the determination of the legal issues, *i.e.*, the outcome of the case.²

The legal issue before the trial court on summary judgment was whether the release signed by Mrs. Nielsen, which contained language releasing liability for personal injury, was valid and enforceable. The trial court relied on the “best evidence rule” to the exclusion of parol evidence to conclude that the release was valid and enforceable.

This Court has recognized that parol evidence is properly received where an agreement may be invalid for fraud or other causes.

This court has held that as a principle of contract interpretation, the parol evidence rule has only a narrow application. Simply stated, the rule operates, in the absence of invalidating causes such as fraud or illegality, to exclude evidence of prior or contemporaneous conversations, representations, or statements offered for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of an integrated contract.

Ward v. Intermountain Farmers Ass’n, 907 P.2d 264, 268 (Utah 1995) (citations omitted, emphasis added). *See also* State Bank of Lehi v. Woolsey, 565 P.2d 413, 418 (Utah 1977) (presumption that writing is integrated is appropriate “in the absence of invalidating causes such

²*E.g.*, Beck v. Haines Terminal & Highway Co., 843 P.2d 1229 (Alaska 1992); Peterson v. Halsted, 829 P.2d 373, 375 (Colo. 1992); Drake v. Drake, 586 P.2d 742, 743 (Okla. 1978); Clements v. Travelers Indem. Co., 850 P.2d 1298, 1301 (Wash. 1993); Mize v. North Big Horn Hosp. Dist., 931 P.2d 229, 232 (Wyo. 1997).

as fraud or illegality”); Lamb v. Bangart, 525 P.2d 602, 607 (Utah 1974) (“unless fraud, accident or mistake be averred, the writing constitutes the agreement between the parties”).

The Restatement (Second) of Contracts addresses the issue of when parol evidence may be admissible in the evaluation of a facially complete agreement.

Agreements and negotiations prior to or contemporaneous with the adoption of a writing are admissible in evidence to establish

- (a) that the writing is not an integrated agreement;
- (b) that the integrated agreement, if any, is completely or partially integrated;
- (c) the meaning of the writing, whether or not integrated;
- (d) illegality, fraud, duress, mistake, lack of consideration, or other invalidating cause;
- (e) ground for granting or denying rescission, reformation, specific performance, or other remedy.

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 214 (1981). Two of the Restatement comments are relevant to the present issue.

What appears to be a complete and binding integrated agreement may be a forgery, a joke, a sham, or an agreement without consideration, or it may be voidable for fraud, duress, mistake, or the like, or it may be illegal. Such invalidating causes need not and commonly do not appear on the face of the writing.

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 214 comment c.

A contract which is fully enforceable in an action for damages may be subject to equitable remedies such as rescission or reformation by reason of fraud, mistake or the like. . . . Evidence of the circumstances in which the contract was made may be relevant to such remedial issues . . .

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 214 comment d.

Under Utah law, an agreement which limits liability, such as the release at issue here, is unenforceable if it is procured by fraud. Otsuka Electronics (USA, Inc.) v. Imaging Specialists, Inc., 937 P.2d 1274, 1280 (Utah App. 1997) (citing Lamb v. Bangart, 525 P.2d 602, 608 (Utah

1974)). *See also* Despain v. Despain, 855 P.2d 254, 257 (Utah App. 1993) (citing Dugan v. Jones, 615 P.2d 1239, 1247 (Utah 1980), “A person may rely upon positive assertions made by another, and fraud in the inducement may allow the injured party to avoid the contract.”)

It is also Utah law that a challenge to the validity of a document based on alteration is a fact question which must go to the finder of fact. “[T]he question of [a document’s] validity is a matter to be determined by the trier of fact, and the mere fact that a judge allows a document to be received in evidence does not mean that the jury or the court, if there is no jury, must accept the document as genuine.” Hartman v. Young, 551 P.2d 229, 231 (Utah 1976). *See also* Zions First Nat. Bank v. Rocky Mountain Irr., Inc., 795 P.2d 658, 663 (Utah 1990) (“The trial court should have allowed the jury to decide the material, fraudulent alteration issue.”) Parol evidence is admissible in evaluating the alteration issue.

[I]f the genuineness or authenticity of a material expression is in question, the parol evidence rule does not come into play; otherwise, it would be a means of destroying all defenses of a forgery victim and making a false document genuine, simply by silencing the person who most clearly knows of its falsity.

Tates, Inc. v. Salisbury, 795 P.2d 1140, 1141 (Utah App. 1990). The existence of this fact question as to the alteration of the release, on which parol evidence is properly admissible, clearly precludes summary judgment on the validity of the document.

After it became apparent that Liberty Mutual intended to rely on its newly located release, Mrs. Nielsen discovered that the release did not reflect changes she made at the time she signed it. She subsequently filed a motion to amend her complaint to allege fraudulent alteration of the release.

In addition, in response to Liberty Mutual’s motion to dismiss, Mrs. Nielsen submitted her affidavit and that of her counsel which clearly raise issues of fact material to the validity and

enforceability of the release. Mrs. Nielsen's affidavit stated, in part:

6. Under no condition did I settle my personal injury claim in June of 1991 knowing the extent of my injuries. I told my attorney that I did not trust insurance companies and I would not sign the release unless we modified the document.

7. When the Release and Settlement agreement was signed on June 6, 1991 in my attorney's office, I specifically asked him to cross out the words "Personal Injuries existing or which may exist which are known or unknown to me at the present time" and "both to person."

8. The agreement that the Defendants have submitted is not a true nor a correct copy of the original that was signed by me and sent to the insurance company by my attorney.

Affidavit of Vickie M. Nielsen, R. 53. The affidavit of Mrs. Nielsen's attorney also establishes fact questions about the intent of the parties in executing the release and raises questions about whether the release had been altered. Affidavit of Paul M. Halliday, Jr. R. 56.

Mrs. Nielsen raised factual issues about the circumstances surrounding her execution of the release which would preclude the written agreement from being an integration or a statement of her intent. She also raised factual issues about the facial validity of the release, in particular whether it had been altered after she signed it. The trial court's grant of summary judgment in reliance on the best evidence rule despite the existence of these material issues of fact was erroneous as a matter of law. This Court should, therefore, reverse the summary judgment and remand to the trial court for further proceedings.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING MRS. NIELSEN LEAVE TO AMEND HER COMPLAINT.

The decision of whether to grant leave to amend a complaint is within the discretion of

the trial court. *E.g.*, Timm v. Dewsnup, 851 P.2d 1178, 1182 (Utah 1993). Rule 15(a), Utah R. Civ. P. provides that “leave [to amend] shall be freely given when justice so requires.” This Court has interpreted this provision liberally to “afford parties ‘the privilege of presenting whatever legitimate contentions they have pertaining to their dispute.’” Wilcox v. Geneva Rock Corp., 911 P.2d 367, 369 (Utah 1996) (citation omitted). A denial of a motion to amend is an abuse of discretion if it results in prejudice to the moving party. Slattery v. Covey & Co., Inc., 857 P.2d 243, 248 (Utah App. 1993) (citation omitted). There are three considerations which the appellate court views in evaluating on a trial court’s ruling on a motion to amend: “(1) the timeliness of the motion; (2) the moving party’s reason for the delay; and (3) the resulting prejudice to the responding party.” Swift Stop, Inc. v. Wight, 845 P.2d 250, 258 (Utah App. 1992) (citing Westley v. Farmer’s Ins. Exchange, 663 P.2d 93, 94 (Utah 1983)). A motion to amend made well into the discovery process “should be allowed if there is reasonable explanation for the delay in discovering the facts and the amendment is not unduly prejudicial to the opposing party.” Chadwick v. Nielsen, 763 P.2d 817, 820 (Utah App. 1988) (citing Girard v. Appleby, 660 P.2d 245, 248 (Utah 1983)).

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