1998

Vickie M. Nielsen v. The Estate of Mary Jane Hefferon : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The trial court soundly held that the best evidence rule requires the use of an original writing to prove its content.

2. The trial court soundly dismissed Ms. Nielsen's Complaint with prejudice since she could not account for the deletions on her copy of the altered Release.

3. The trial court soundly dismissed Ms. Nielsen's Complaint with prejudice since parol evidence is not admissible to contradict the terms of an unambiguous contract.

4. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied plaintiff's Motion to Amend her Complaint to add claims of fraud and bad faith since she could not establish legally sufficient claims on either theory.

5. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Ms. Nielsen's Motion to Amend her Complaint because she was unable to convince the trial court that her altered Release reflected the agreement of the parties.

6. Attorneys' fees and double costs should be awarded in this matter since Ms. Nielsen has brought a frivolous appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE BEST EVIDENCE RULE REQUIRES THAT THE ORIGINAL WRITING BE USED TO PROVE ITS CONTENT.

Rule 1002 of the Utah Rules of Evidence requires that, to prove the content of a writing, the original writing is required in evidence. Its statutory counterpart, Utah Code Ann. § 78-25-16, also requires that "[t]here can be no evidence of the contents of a writing, other than the writing itself" except in a handful of cases that do not apply to this one.

At oral argument on the Summary Judgment Motion, Ms. Nielsen's counsel requested to see the original Release for the first time since it was discovered, saying he would like to examine it "to see if it's a forgery." (R. 123 at 17:12-14.) After reviewing the signatures that were affixed to the original Release more than six years earlier, Ms. Nielsen's counsel

admitted that the signatures on the face of the document were, indeed, the authentic signatures of his client and himself. (R. 123 at 18:3-5.)

The trial court held that since "the original Release bears the signatures of plaintiff and her counsel, the content and scope of the parties' agreement must be determined from the original Release." (R. 113.) The court went on to hold that the parties' agreement unambiguously encompassed personal injury claims later pursued by Ms. Nielsen. (R. at 114.)

The trial court correctly applied the law and determined that no genuine issue of material fact existed with respect to the use and authenticity of the original Release. Reasonable minds cannot differ that the original Release is the writing that must be used to prove its contents. Ms. Nielsen's counsel does not dispute that his and client's signatures are on the original Release. Nor does he dispute that only one original Release exists. No material fact exists which could make an issue of the original Release's authenticity.

POINT II

WHEN A PARTY ATTEMPTS TO PRODUCE AN ALTERED WRITING INTO EVIDENCE, SHE MUST ACCOUNT FOR THE APPEARANCE OF THE ALTERATION IF IT IS TO BE CONSIDERED GENUINE.

Utah Code Ann. § 78-25-17 requires:

The party producing as genuine a writing which has been altered, or appears to have been altered after its execution in a part material to the question in dispute must account for the appearance of alteration. He may show that the alteration was made by another without his concurrence, or was made with the consent of the parties affected by it, or otherwise properly or innocently made, or that the alteration does not change the meaning or language of the instrument. If he does this, he may give the writing in evidence, but not otherwise.

(Emphasis added.)

At oral argument on the Summary Judgment Motion, the trial court asked Ms. Nielsen's counsel why the original Release did not bear any interlineation of the personal injury language, like Ms. Nielsen's copy did. Ms. Nielsen's counsel replied, "I don't know anything about that." (R. 123 at 18: 20-23.)

Ms. Nielsen's counsel offered no evidence to establish that the alteration was made by someone else without his concurrence because he made the deletion himself. He admits that "in the presence of my client, I crossed out the words" relating to personal injury claims. (R. 58, ¶ 10.) Nor did he offer any evidence that he made the deletion with the consent of the parties affected by it: he avers just the opposite--that Liberty Mutual's adjuster told him to ignore the personal injury language. Since he was skeptical about this, he says he decided to cross out the language. Id. However, the original Release proves this statement inaccurate; no interlineation was made on the original. Therefore, plaintiff's arguments constitute a misrepresentation to this Court.

Ms. Nielsen's counsel also does not claim that the deletion was properly or innocently made, or that the deletion does not change the meaning or language of the instrument. By deleting the personal injury language in his copy of the release, he must have intended to change the legal effect of the agreement and to create an opportunity to pursue a personal injury lawsuit. This alteration unilaterally renewed the obligations of Ms.

Hefferon's estate and its insurer to cover personal injuries asserted by Ms. Nielsen a year and a half after the release's execution. Ms. Nielsen cannot account for why her altered copy has uninitialed and unacknowledged deletions and the original Release does not. Since she cannot properly account for the alterations, her copy cannot be admitted into evidence because it is not genuine. The trial court would not permit the altered Release into evidence, and neither should the Court of Appeals.

POINT III

PAROL EVIDENCE THAT CONTRADICTS THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF AN UNAMBIGUOUS AGREEMENT IS INADMISSIBLE.

On June 6, 1991, Ms. Nielsen executed the original Release (R. 37), a color copy of which is attached to the Addendum of this Brief. It states, in relevant part:

The undersigned hereby releases and forever discharges Mary Jane Hefferon and Liberty Mutual Insurance Company . . . from all claims and demands, rights and causes of action of any kind the undersigned now has or hereafter may have on account of or in any way growing out of **personal injuries existing or which may exist which are known or unknown to me at the present time and property damage** resulting or to result from an occurrence which happened on or about September 23, 1990, and do hereby covenant to indemnify and save harmless the said party or parties from and against all claims and demands whatsoever on account of or in any way growing out of

said occurrence or its results *both to person and property*. This release expresses a *full and complete SETTLEMENT of a liability claimed and denied . . .*

(Emphasis added.) Above the space for Plaintiff's signature, the Release states in large, bold capital letters, "YOU ARE MAKING A FINAL SETTLEMENT. THIS IS A RELEASE: READ BEFORE SIGNING." It is signed by plaintiff Vickie M. Nielsen and witnessed by her attorney, Paul M. Halliday, Jr.

Compromise and settlement agreements are contractual in nature and should be construed and enforced under general contract principles. Mascaro v. Davis, 741 P.2d 938 (Utah 1987). A party to a contract may not resort to parol evidence to attempt to vary or contradict the clear and unambiguous terms of a contract. Hall v. Process Instruments and Control, Inc., 890 P.2d 1024, 1026-27 (Utah 1995).

In Ward v. Intermountain Farmers Ass'n, 907 P.2d 264 (Utah 1995), the Utah Supreme Court explained that a court may consider a writing in light of surrounding circumstances in order to make a preliminary determination as to whether there is any ambiguity in the contract. Id. at 268. If, after considering all credible parol evidence offered to prove the intentions of the parties, the court determines that the language of the

contract is not ambiguous, then the parties' intentions must be determined solely from the language of the contract." Id.

After considering all the evidence presented, the trial court soundly held that the language of the original Release had no ambiguity, that there was no need to resort to parol evidence, and that the parties' intent would be solely determined by the plain terms of the agreement. (R. 113-114.)

Once she settled all her demands and the agreement was fully executed, Ms. Nielsen cannot now be heard to say that she did not really settle all demands but that, on the contrary, she reserved her personal injury claim. It is implausible that Ms. Nielsen misunderstood the force, effect and import of the agreement she signed and her attorney witnessed, or that she did not know that she discharged all claims and demands she had or might have against Ms. Hefferon or her insurer arising from the automobile accident. In exchange for a sum of money, Ms. Nielsen waived **all** her claims against the defendant. The terms of the original Release were plain and unambiguous. When she signed the original Release, she assumed the risk that she could develop personal injuries that would go uncompensated. Ms. Nielsen had the opportunity to exercise her freedom of choice as between

executing the agreement or not doing so. She consciously, and with legal advice, chose to execute the original Release; it cannot be said that this was not voluntary on her part. This is not a case where an adjuster shoved a release under the nose of a recently injured person; Ms. Nielsen had an attorney for several months who endeavored to secure a settlement for her.

In submitting parol evidence, Ms. Nielsen is asking the Court to hold that, although the original Release expressly includes known and unknown personal injuries and property damage, in fact it only applies to property damage. Even if parol evidence were permitted to vary the terms of the agreement, the credible parol evidence will still not alter the parties' intentions. Ms. Nielsen's reliance upon parol evidence to rewrite the original Release is misplaced, and it should be construed according to its clear and unambiguous language.

POINT IV

**THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED PLAINTIFF'S
MOTION TO AMEND HER COMPLAINT TO ADD
CLAIMS OF FRAUD AND BAD FAITH SINCE
SHE COULD NOT ESTABLISH LEGALLY SUFFICIENT
CLAIMS ON EITHER COUNT.**

Fraud is never presumed, and a contract should not be adjudged void for fraud unless the allegations and proofs of

fraud are clear, precise, and indubitable if it is to reach a jury. Kelley v. Salt Lake Transp. Co., 116 P.2d 383 (Utah 1941). "It has been more than once held that it is error to submit a question of fraud to the jury upon *slight parol* evidence to overturn a written instrument." (Citation omitted, emphasis added.) 116 P.2d 385. The issue is not for the jury when reasonable minds cannot find the facts to support material and fraudulent alteration of documents. Zions First Nat'l. v. Rocky Mt. Irr., 795 P.2d 656, 662 (Utah 1990).

To show successfully that the trial court abused its discretion in denying Ms. Nielsen's Motion to Amend her Complaint to add claims of fraud and bad faith, Ms. Nielsen had the burden to prove that the release was procured by fraud and bad faith and that she could legally establish these sufficient claims. Lamb v. Bangart, 525 P.2d 602, 608 (Utah 1974). However, if in fact fraud or bad faith occurred here, it is obvious that it was not on the part of the defendant or its insurer.

To show that her fraud claim was legally sufficient, Ms. Nielsen must have stated with particularity the circumstances supporting each element of fraud. Otsuka Elec. v. Imaging

Specialists, 937 P.2d 1274, 1278 (Utah App. 1997). The elements of fraud are:

1. That a representation was made;
2. Concerning a presently existing material fact;
3. Which is false;
4. Which the representor either (a) knew to be false or (b) made recklessly, knowing that he had insufficient knowledge upon which to base such representation;
5. For the purpose of inducing the other party to act upon it;
6. That the other party acting reasonably and in ignorance of its falsity;
7. Did upon rely upon it;
8. And was thereby induced to act;
9. To his injury and damage.

Otsuka, 937 P.2d 1278, citing Pace v. Parrish, 247 P.2d 273, 274-75 (1952); accord Gold Standard, Inc. v. Getty Oil Co., 915 P.2d 1060, 1066-67 (Utah 1996).

The only representation that Ms. Nielsen claims was made to her was that Mr. Gehris of Liberty Mutual allegedly told her attorney that, in spite of the fact that the original Release contained language that included the release of personal injury

claims, she should go ahead and ignore that language and pretend it wasn't there. (R. at 58.) However, it cannot be said that Ms. Nielsen and her attorney acted reasonably and in ignorance of this falsity, when they have each provided affidavits to the effect that they did not trust Mr. Gehris's statements and that they wanted the personal injury language out of the release. (R. 58, § 10; R. 53, § 6.) They did not rely upon Mr. Gehris's representations nor were they induced to act by them.

In order to proffer a legally sufficient claim of bad faith, Ms. Nielsen needed to show that Ms. Hefferon or her insurer acted in bad faith. A finding of bad faith is a mixed question of law and fact that turns on a factual determination of a party's subjective intent. Valcarce v. Fitzgerald, 961 P.2d 305, 316 (Utah 1998), citing Taylor v. Estate of Taylor, 770 P.2d 163, 171 (Utah App. 1989). The trial court is given relatively broad discretion in concluding whether bad faith has been sufficiently shown. State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994).

Ms. Nielsen had the burden to show that one or more of these bad faith factors existed: 1) the party lacked an honest belief in the propriety of the activities in question; 2) the

party intended to take unconscionable advantage of others; or 3) the party intended to or acted with the knowledge that the activities in question would hinder, delay, or defraud others. Valcarce, 961 P.2d 316, citing Cady v. Johnson, 671 P.2d 149, 151 (Utah 1983).

Ms. Nielsen asserted none of these bad faith factors to the court below. She could not support such assertions because she had counsel who was negotiating a settlement for her and it could not be said that the Liberty Mutual claims adjuster was operating with any advantage over Ms. Nielsen. Indeed, Ms. Hefferon and her insurer were the ones who were compromised by the proffer of Ms. Nielsen's altered Release and her assertions of fraud and bad faith. The trial court's concluding remarks to defendant Ms. Hefferon's counsel are worth repeating here:

The record should reflect, counsel, that I'm going to return the original release to you. At some point in the future, it may become important as to whether this document is in existence. I don't want it in the court files to disappear or get lost someplace. The party who has the most at stake ought to guard this, and I return it to you.

(R. 123 at 26:23-27:4.)

The trial court's denial of Ms. Nielsen's Motion to Amend her Complaint was clearly not an abuse of discretion since

Ms. Nielsen could not remotely establish legally sufficient claims of fraud or bad faith.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED MS. NIELSEN'S
MOTION TO AMEND HER COMPLAINT BECAUSE SHE WAS
UNABLE TO PERSUADE THE COURT THAT THE ALTERED RELEASE
REFLECTED THE AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES.

As stated above, the trial court found that the original Release was authenticated and signed by Ms. Nielsen and her attorney. The court was not persuaded that the altered Release with the deleted terms was a genuine writing that was admissible evidence.

Since the altered Release was inadmissible, the court had no basis upon which to grant Ms. Nielsen's Motion to Amend her Complaint. The altered Release did not reflect the agreement of the parties; it only reflected the desires of Ms. Nielsen that she be able to present a personal injury claim she discovered a year-and-a-half after the automobile accident at issue. Had the court been persuaded that a reasonable juror might believe Ms. Nielsen's altered Release was genuine, then it would have permitted new claims to be brought. The trial court was not fooled by Ms. Nielsen's deletions and neither should the Court of Appeals be misled by such.

POINT VI

MS. NIELSEN'S APPEAL IS FRIVOLOUS AND ATTORNEYS' FEES AND DOUBLE COSTS SHOULD BE AWARDED TO THE DEFENDANT FOR HAVING TO DEFEND IT.

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